# **Apexit<sup>®</sup> Plus**



## **Scientific Documentation**



## Table of contents

1.	. Introduction3			
2.	Technical data4			
	2.1	Composition	4	
	2.2	Physical values	4	
3.	Exa	amination of the material properties	5	
	3.1	Solubility, dimensional stability and film thickness	.5	
	3.2	Tightness of the seal – dye penetration	.7	
		3.2.1 Coronal seal	7	
		3.2.2 Apical seal	7	
	3.3	Tightness of the seal – bacteria penetration	8	
4.	Clir	nical studies	9	
	4.1	Indications	9	
		4.1.1 Application with cold gutta percha	9	
		4.1.2 Application with warm gutta percha	9	
	4.2	Clinical studies1	1	
		4.2.1 Dr. A. Peschke, Ivoclar Vivadent R&D, Liechtenstein1	1	
		4.2.2 Prof. Dr. E. Pascon, University of Toronto, Canada1	2	
		4.2.3 Prof. Dr. R. Di Lenarda, University of Triest, Italy1	3	
5.	Bio	compatibility1	4	
	5.1	Exposition1	4	
	5.2	Toxicity1	4	
		5.2.1 Toxicity of the starting materials1	4	
		5.2.2 Toxicity of the finished product1	4	
	5.3	Genotoxicity1	5	
	5.4	Sensitization1	5	
	5.5	Irritation1	5	
	5.6	Local tissue compatibility1	5	
	5.7	Conclusion1	6	
6.	Ref	erences1	7	

## 1. Introduction

During endodontic treatment, the root canal filling materials are responsible for ensuring a permanent, biocompatible, bacteria and fluid tight seal of the chemo-mechanically cleaned and shaped root canal system. In general, a root canal filling is composed of two materials: a solid filler (core material) and a sealer. The most commonly used core material is gutta percha, which can be placed into the root canal in a cold or a warm state. Originally, also metal cones were used, but they did not prove to be clinically successful. Irrespective of the compaction technique used, gutta percha alone is not able to completely seal the root canal system. The main purpose of the root canal sealer is to fill out the incongruencies between the root canal wall and the gutta percha cones [1].

#### Setting mechanism

Apexit Plus is a two-component material, which sets by complex formation. For this complex formation the three components calcium hydroxide, salicylate and water are needed and the following reaction is postulated: Traces of water cause small quantities of  $Ca(OH)_2$  to dissolve releasing hydroxide ions that subsequently react with acidic phenol groups of the salicylate. The resulting phenolate ion is stabilized by conjugation with the carbonyl group of the esters (Fig A). Free calcium ions react with the negatively charged oxygen atoms of phenolate and the carbonyl groups to form a chelate complex (Fig B). In a disalicylate,  $Ca(OH)_2$  does not react at an intramolecular but at an intermolecular level, hence the two salicylate groups provided by two different dimeric molecules will be linked by one calcium ion. As a result, an ionic polymer link is formed. Higher temperatures and relative humidity (residual moisture in the root canal) during setting accelerate the reaction.

Apexit Plus differs from Apexit in that it is supplied in a more convenient delivery form and has a more hydrophylic formulation. Consequently, the material is more reliable if used in thicker layers.

Α





## 2. Technical data

## 2.1 Composition

Base	Weight percent		
Calcium hydroxide / Calcium oxide	36.9		
Hydrated collophonium	54.0		
Fillers and other auxiliary materials (highly dispersed silicon dioxide, phosphoric acid alkyl ester)	9.1		

Activator	Weight percent		
Disalicylate	47.6		
Bismuth hydroxide / Bismuth carbonate	36.4		
Fillers and other auxiliary materials (highly dispersed silicon dioxide, phosphoric acid alkyl ester)	16.0		

## 2.2 Physical values

Flow (ISO 6876)	24 mm
Working time (ISO 6876)	3 h
Setting time (37°C, ≥ 95% RH; ISO 6876)	2:15 h
Film thickness (ISO 6876)	11 µm
Dimensional change after setting (ISO 6876)	+ 0.4 %
Water solubility (ISO 6876)	0.4 - 0.6 %
Radiopacity (ISO 6876)	385 % AI
Ball indentation hardness	17 MPa

## 3. Examination of the material properties

#### 3.1 Solubility, dimensional stability and film thickness

To ensure a permanent seal of the root canal and prevent the penetration of bacteria into the apical periodontium, the root canal sealer must be insoluble or at least only hardly soluble. Furthermore, the material must remain dimensionally stable following setting.

The low solubility of endodontic sealers is a requirement of the ISO 6876 standard. To comply with this standard, the solubility of the sealer after 24-hour immersion in water must not exceed 3 % (w/w).



Solubility of different commercial root canal sealers according to ISO 6876. References: Apexit, Apexit Plus [2]; AH Plus [3]; Kerr PCS [4]; AH26, Roeko-Seal, Ketac-Endo, Sealapex [5].



Dimensional changes following setting and storage in water for 30 days. Source: Apexit Plus [6], Epiphany [2], others [7].

The film thickness describes the ability of the material to adapt to the geometry of the canal wall. The lower the film thickness, the better is the adaptation of the material. ISO 6876 requires a maximum film thickness of 50  $\mu$ m.



#### 3.2 Tightness of the seal – dye penetration

#### 3.2.1 Coronal seal

The coronal sealing capability of Apexit Plus used in conjunction with cold gutta percha (vertical condensation) was compared with that of Apexit and AH plus [2]. Six monoradicular teeth were sealed and subsequently immersed in fuchsine solution under vacuum for 24 h (active penetration). The penetration depth of the dye was evaluated by examining various tooth sections. Compared with AH plus ( $6.04\pm3.66$  mm) and Apexit ( $4.85\pm2.21$  mm), the Apexit Plus group showed less dye penetration ( $3.15\pm2.8$  mm). However, this difference was not statistically significant (p>0.05).



#### 3.2.2 Apical seal

The apical sealing capability of Apexit Plus used in conjunction with warm gutta percha (Obtura Spartan, Fenton USA) was studied by Pascon et al. in comparison to that of AH plus [8]. In this study, 50 single rooted teeth were sealed and subsequently soaked in India ink at 37 °C for 30 days. Subsequently, the teeth were completely decalcified with hydrochloric acid (clearing method) and the maximum penetration depth of the dye was determined visually. Apexit Plus showed an average maximum linear dye penetration of  $1.29\pm1.4$  mm, while AH plus exhibited  $0.84\pm1.52$  mm (p<0.05).



#### 3.3 Tightness of the seal – bacteria penetration

The coronal seal of Apexit Plus in conjunction with cold gutta percha (lateral condensation) was compared to AH plus by Dahl et al (NIOM) in a bacteria penetration study [9]. In this investigation, 15 single rooted teeth were sealed and subsequently examined in a twochamber system. The upper chamber contained a medium which was inoculated with *Streptococcus mutans*, while the lower chamber contained a sterile medium. The time it took for the bacteria to penetrate into the lower chamber (onset of cloudiness) was measured. The results showed that Apexit Plus has better sealing properties, which are statistically significant.



Überlebensrate = Survival rate Beobachtungszeitraum in Tagen = Observation period in days

Coronal seal: The penetration of bacteria into the lower chamber was monitored for a period of 30 days [9]. The onset of cloudiness in the lower chamber was regarded as evidence and the probability of survival calculated by means of the Kaplan-Meier method.

## 4. Clinical studies

#### 4.1 Indications

#### 4.1.1 Application with cold gutta percha

#### Lateral condensation

The sealing of root canals treated with Apexit Plus using the lateral condensation technique was compared to that of teeth treated with AH plus in an *in vitro* investigation involving bacteria leakage tests [9]. In this study, Apexit Plus showed significantly more effective sealing than AH plus. Apexit Plus is currently the subject of a clinical investigation using the lateral condensation technique. To date, the root canal sealer has shown reliable clinical behavior [2].

#### Vertical condensation

The sealing capacity of Apexit Plus used in conjunction with vertically condensed gutta percha was compared with that of Apexit and AH plus by means of dye penetration methods in an *in vitro* pilot study [2]. The sealing properties of Apexit Plus were shown to be equally effective as those of the other products tested in the study.

#### Single cone technique

The *in vitro* results of the study involving the single cone technique and Apexit revealed a heterogeneous picture. Abt [11] and Al-Khatar [12] compared the single cone technique with lateral condensation *in vitro*. The single cone technique was shown to produce significantly poorer sealing results. Nevertheless, Apexit produced the same or even better results than other root sealers used in the single cone technique [11, 13-14]. Apexit was not suitable for layers of > 1 mm. Layers of this thickness, however, are only used in the single cone technique. As the setting properties of Apexit Plus have been improved, this material can now be reliably used in the single cone technique.

#### Studies on Apexit

The clinical effectiveness of the existing Apexit used in conjunction with cold gutta percha has been examined in various clinical studies. A success rate of 92 % [15] and 94% [16], has been observed (lateral condensation, 20 - 24-month recall). The tightness of the seal produced with laterally condensed gutta percha and Apexit was also studied in various *in vitro* investigations using dye [11, 17-26], bacteria [27-31] and tubule penetration [32], as well as fluid movement tests [33-34]. In seven comparisons Apexit showed poorer sealing, in 31 comparisons equal sealing and in six comparisons better sealing than the other products tested.

#### 4.1.2 Application with warm gutta percha

The clinical effectiveness of Apexit Plus used in conjunction with warm gutta percha is currently the subject of two clinical studies (Thermafil and System B). To date, the sealer has demonstrated clinically reliable behaviour [35-36].

The apical sealing properties of Apexit Plus in comparison to those of AH plus with warm gutta percha have been investigated in an *in vitro* study [8]. Apexit Plus showed good sealing behaviour in this study.

#### Studies on Apexit

The clinical effectiveness of Apexit used in conjunction with warm gutta percha has been examined in a number of clinical studies. In a two-armed clinical study, 84 teeth were sealed with the lateral condensation technique and 78 filled with warm gutta percha. The clinical success rate after two years was 93.7 % (lateral condensation) and 90.0 % (Thermafil) [37]. Comparable results were reported by Briseno and Kremers in their study (success rate of 90.6 % after 20 months for 85 fillings) [38]. These positive clinical results are consistent with the data obtained from *in vitro* investigations in which Apexit was examined using warm gutta percha. These tests did not reveal any shortcomings in the material's sealing properties either [37, 39-40]. Only in a study by Saunders and Saunders [17] did Apexit show poorer sealing behaviour in comparison to the results achieved in the lateral condensation technique. However, the same study showed that Apexit produces better sealing results with warm gutta percha than Sealapex.

#### 4.2 Clinical studies

#### 4.2.1 Dr. A. Peschke, Ivoclar Vivadent R&D, Liechtenstein

- Study set-up: The aim of this study was to clinically assess Apexit Plus used in conjunction with the cold lateral condensation technique. In addition to the clinical parameters, the Periapical Index (PAI) according to Ørstavik was used as a standard of evaluation.
- Results: So far, 12-month recall data are available for 34 of the 43 teeth treated with Apexit Plus, and 3-year recall results for 10 of the teeth treated. The radiographic examination showed a mean distance between the root canal filling and the radiologic apex of 1.2 mm (± 1.1). All the root canal fillings were laterally well adapted and free of voids. In 15 of the 43 cases, a certain amount of Apexit Plus excess (also called "puff") was observed either at the apex or in the lateral canals during the initial radiographic examination. However at the six-month recall, it was found that this excess material had been resorbed in most cases without negatively affecting the quality of the root canal filling. Post-operative problems were reported in only three of the cases. They disappeared spontaneously within the first 2 days following obturation. As far as clinical parameters are concerned, all the root canal fillings can be considered a success within the current observation period. The radiographic examination at all the recall dates, i.e. after 6, 12 and 36 months, showed a significant reduction in the PAI rating compared with the previous or preoperative findings as well as with the findings at the time of obturation.



(1) pre-operative view; (2) measurement; (3) at baseline; (4) at 6-month recall; (5) at 12-month recall, (6) at 36-month recall

Maximum PAI (% of cases)	Pre- operative (N=45)	Obt. (N=43)	6 months. (N=38)	12 months (N=34)	36 months (N=10)
PAI 1	0.0	4.7	23.7	41.2	60.0
PAI 2	9.3	9.3	15.8	23.5	30.0
PAI 3	18.6	46.5	44.7	32.4	10.0
PAI 4	48.8	20.9	10.5	2.9	0.0
PAI 5	23.3	18.6	5.3	0.0	0.0
Mean PAI	3.9 ± 0.9	3.4 ± 1.0	2.5 ± 1.1	1.9 ± 0.9	1.5 ± 0.7

Overview of the changes of mean PAI values observed in the study conducted by Dr. Peschke: The differences recorded were of high statistical significance at all the observation dates (p<0.01 Wicoxon test).

#### 4.2.2 Prof. Dr. E. Pascon, University of Toronto, Canada

- Study set-up: The aim of this study was to clinically evaluate Apexit Plus used in conjunction with warm gutta percha (Thermafil) in comparison with AH Plus. The Periapical Index (PAI) according to Ørstavik was used as a standard of assessment in addition to the clinical parameters.
- Results: Twenty teeth each were treated with Apexit Plus and AH Plus. All the patients remained in the study for a period of 12 months. At the 12-month recall, a significant reduction of the PAI value and thus an improvement of the clinical situation was observed in both groups. No difference was found between the two root canal sealers in regard to treatment success. A success rate (PAI = 1 or 2) of 90 % was recorded for both materials.



#### 4.2.3 Prof. Dr. R. Di Lenarda, University of Triest, Italy

- Study set-up: The aim of this study was to clinically evaluate Apexit Plus used in conjunction with two different thermal techniques: Thermafil compared with System B. The Periapical Index (PAI) according to Ørstavik was used as a standard of assessment in addition to the clinical parameters.
- Results: Twenty patients were treated with Thermafil and 21 patients with System B. There were 5 drop-outs of the study in the System B group. In the radiographic examination after six months, both treatment methods were shown to produce a reduction in the PAI rating compared to the baseline finding. Radiographic examination after 12 months revealed complete healing of the lesions in more than half of the patients. No statistically significant difference was found between the two groups in regard to the healing success (Kurskal-Wallis test). For all cases, the clinical parameters were uneventful.

	Thermafil	System B
Total number of cases	20	21
Mean PAI at baseline	4.1±1.1	3.8±0.7
Mean PAI after 6 months	2.7±1.3	2.1±1.4
Mean PAI after 12 months	1.5±1.1	1.4±0.9
Completely healed after 12 months	10/20	12/16



## 5. Biocompatibility

#### 5.1 Exposition

The root canal sealer Apexit Plus is composed of a self-curing two-component system based on calcium hydroxide and salicylate and is indicated for permanent root canals fillings. Once it has been placed in the root canal, it will be covered, preventing any direct contact with the oral environment. The apical opening of the root canal offers the only contact to living tissue.

Apexit Plus is an improved version of Apexit, which has been successfully used in clinical situations since 1990. The main difference in the two formulations is the heightened hydrophilic property of the new product. The two formulations are very similar from a toxicological point of view. Furthermore, no new substances have been used in Apexit Plus. The toxicological profile of the two products is therefore comparable.

Name	Apexit Plus (wt%)	Apexit (wt%)
Calcium hydroxide / oxide	18.5	18.8
Disalicylate	23.8	18.2
Hydrated collophonium	27	18.5
Bismuth oxide / carbonate	18.2	18.2
Fillers and auxiliary materials	12.5	16.5
Zinc oxide, zinc stearate, paraffin oil, pigments	0	9.8

#### 5.2 Toxicity

#### 5.2.1 Toxicity of the starting materials

- All the inorganic salts used have an  $LD_{50}$  of > 5,000 mg/kg (ORL-RAT). [41]
- Hydrated collophonium has an LD<sub>50</sub> of > 5,000 mg/kg (ORL-RAT) [41] and is accepted as a food-contact material without restriction of the migration limit in Europe and in the US.
- Disalicylate has an LD<sub>50</sub> (ORL-RAT) of > 5,000 mg/kg [42]

#### 5.2.2 Toxicity of the finished product

The data available for the starting materials do not provide any evidence of elevated toxicity of the product. This assumption has been confirmed by the following investigations:

The toxicity of Apexit Plus has been examined in a cytotoxicity test (XTT). For this purpose, samples made of Apexit Plus were extracted with two solutions and the extracts were tested. The results of the tests did not reveal any cytotoxicity [43].

Apexit has been tested with regard to its cytotoxic potential in numerous independent studies. No evidence of a toxic effect was found in any of these investigations. Root canal sealers based on calcium hydroxide exhibit a very high biocompatibility. The cytotoxic potential of Apexit was examined with eluates and in direct cell contact assays. Depending on the test set-up used, Apexit did not exhibit any toxic potential [44], or compared with other test materials, only minimal toxic potential [45-48]. In order to rule out a cytotoxic effect of Apexit during the setting period, Schwarze et al. examined eluates, which were collected within 24 hours after mixing. The results of these eluates were also negative [49]. In a long

term study, the same authors examined whether there was a possibility of chronic toxicity. For this purpose, extracted human teeth were obturated with root canal sealers and immersed in water for a period of 52 weeks. The eluate was examined with regard to its cytotoxic potential on a weekly or bi-weekly basis. All the results related to Apexit were negative [50]. Furthermore, the oral  $LD_{50}$  in the rat was determined and no acute toxicity was found (LD50 > 5000 mg/kg bw). [51].

#### 5.3 Genotoxicity

The data available for the starting materials do not provide any evidence of a genotoxic effect [41].

The genotoxicity of Apexit Plus was examined in an AMES test (plate incorporation test and extraction). No evidence of genotoxicity was found in this test [52].

The genotoxicity of Apexit was examined in prokaryotic and eukaryotic test systems *in vivo* and *in* vitro. The mutagenic potential of extracts in prokaryotic test systems was established in an AMES test [53] as well as with the *Umu*<sup>-</sup> system [54]. The inhibition of DNA synthesis in human HeLa cells served as the eukaryotic test system [54]. In none of the three *in vitro* tests was any evidence of genotoxic potential found. Heil et al studied the capability of eluates of Apexit to induce breaks in the DNA chain *in vivo* (Muschel model). They were unable to find any indication of *in vivo* genotoxicity [54].

Considering that Apexit and Apexit Plus have a very similar chemical composition and taking into account the molecular biological mechanisms causing the mutagenicity of substrates, the data for Apexit can be fully applied to Apexit Plus.

#### 5.4 Sensitization

Apexit Plus contains hydrated collophonium, which is a derivative of a natural product. A sensitizing reaction in rare cases cannot be excluded. The remaining components are not known to have a sensitizing effect. Ivoclar Vivadent is not familiar with any cases in which an allergy has been caused by Apexit.

The effect of Apexit on immune-competent cells has been examined *in vitro* and *in vivo* (rats) and no evidence of an immune modulating or sensitizing effects was found [55].

#### 5.5 Irritation

The pH of the non-set mixed paste is in the basic range (~ pH 8.5). Accidental contamination of the skin or eyes may lead to temporary local irritation.

#### 5.6 Local tissue compatibility

Apexit has been tested in various histocompatibility studies. In an unspecific implant test in the rat (bone implant test [56]), Apexit showed short-term irritation, which was restricted to the tissue that was in contact with the test material. When Apexit was implanted into the subcutaneous connective tissue of rats, severe necrosis was observed [57]. However, this was comparable to what was found in a parallel study involving another root canal sealer. Furthermore, it disappeared with time. In contrast to the study involving rats, a test in which Apexit was implanted in subcutaneous or peritoneal tissue of mice showed only very minimal tissue inflammation, which was no longer observed after five days [58].

Investigations on the specific histocompatibility were conducted in the dog and in macaque monkeys. In the study involving dogs, overfilling of the canals caused mild to severe inflammation (infiltration with giant cells) of periapical tissue [59]. In contrast, the studies on monkeys [60] showed that overfilling of the canals caused mild inflammation without the

involvement of polynuclear macrophages. If the root canals were properly sealed, no negative reactions of the periapical tissue were observed.

Evaluation of the scientific literature (PubMed) and market surveillance by Ivoclar Vivadent did not reveal any evidence that Apexit is not biocompatible. Because of the very similar (composition) or same (solubility) chemical properties, as well as the same indication of Apexit Plus and Apexit, the data of Apexit can be used in the evaluation of local tissue compatibility.

#### 5.7 Conclusion

Based on the available data and the current standard of knowledge, it can be assume that Apexit Plus can be used as a root canal sealer without an elevated toxicological risk to the patient.

#### 6. References

- 1 Schäfer E: Wurzelkanalfüllmaterialien Ein Überblick. Endodontie 2001, 10(4):337-348.
- 2 Ivoclar Vivadent: Research and Development. Internal Data
- **3** McMichen FR, Pearson G, Rahbaran S, Gulabivala K: A comparative study of selected physical properties of five root-canal sealers. Int Endod J. 2003 Sep;36(9):629-35.
- 4 Orstavik D: Weight loss of endodontic sealers, cements and pastes in water. Scand J Dent Res. 1983 Aug;91(4):316-9.
- 5 Schafer E, Zandbiglari T: Solubility of root-canal sealers in water and artificial saliva. Int Endod J. 2003 Oct;36(10):660-9.
- 6 Orstavik D: Dimensional change following setting according to ISO6876:2001. 2004, NIOM-Testreport 051c/03
- 7 Orstavik D, Nordahl I, Tibballs JE: Dimensional change following setting of root canal sealer materials. Dent Mater. 2001 Nov;17(6):512-9.
- 8 Pascon EA, Versani MA: An in vitro study of apical micro-leakage of thermoplasticized guttapercha with Apexit Plus and AH Plus: a final report. 2005 Study Report University of Toronto
- 9 Dahl D: Bacterial leakage test.. 2005, NIOM-Testreport 074/04
- **10** Picture taken from Barthel C. Bacteral leakage test. Study report 2004.
- **11** Abt J: Über die Kanalversiegelung der kalziumhydroxidhaltigen Wurzelfüllpaste Apexit unter den Bedingungen verschiedender Füllmethoden und im Vergelich mit den Füllpasten Sealapex und AH26. 1995 Dissertation Frankfurt am Main.
- 12 Al Khatar N, Kunzelmann KH, Hickel R (1999). Dichtigkeit und Wandständigkeit verschiedener endodontischer Sealer in schmierschichtfreien Wurzelkanälen. *DZZ* 54:479-483.
- **13** Ebert J, Spiller S, Petschelt A (1997). Einfluss von kalziumhydroxidhaltigen Guttaperchaspitzen auf die Dichtigkeit von Wurzelkanalfüllungen in schmierschichtfreien Wurzelkanälen. *DZZ* 52:126-128
- **14** Roggendorf M, Ebert J, Schzlz C, Frankenberger R, Petschelt A: Microleakage of five root canal sealers in dry and wet root canals. 2003, Conference abstract 2678 (IADR, Goteborg).
- **15** Beer RF, Baumann MA: Klinische Untersuchung der Guttaperchawurzelkanalfüllung mit Apexit als Sealer. 1994, *ZWR* 103:365-373.
- **16** Lipski M: Studies comparing the efficacy of root canal filling with gutta-percha lateral condensation and Thermafil obturators. Ann Acad Med Stetin. 2000;46:317-30.
- 17 Saunders EM, Saunders WP (1995). Long-term coronal leakage of JS Quickfill root fillings with Sealapex and Apexit sealers. *Endod Dent Traumatol* 11:181-185
- **18** Oezata F, Oenal B, Erdilek N, Türkün SL (1999). A comparative study of apical leakage of Apexit, Ketac-Endo, and Diaket root canal sealers. *J Endod* 25:603-604
- **19** Lussi A, Imwinkelried S, Hotz P, Grosrey J (2000). Long-term obutration quality using noninstrumentation technology. *J Endod* 26:491-493
- **20** Lussi A, Imwinkelried S, Stich H (1999). Obturation of root canals with different sealers using non-instrumentation technology. *Int Endod J* 32:17-23.
- 21 Ebert J, Spiller S, Petschelt A (1997). Einfluss von kalziumhydroxidhaltigen Guttaperchaspitzen auf die Dichtigkeit von Wurzelkanalfüllungen in schmierschichtfreien Wurzelkanälen. *DZZ* 52:126-128
- 22 Beltes P, Klolokouris I, Economides N, Koulaouzidou E (1993). A comparative study of apical sealing ability of a new glass-ionomer cemnt (Ketac-Endo) and three conventional root canal sealers. *Hellenic Dent J* 3:45-48.

- **23** Al Khatar N, Kunzelmann KH, Hickel R (1999). Dichtigkeit und Wandständigkeit verschiedener endodontischer Sealer in schmierschichtfreien Wurzelkanälen. *DZZ* 54:479-483.
- 24 Kokkas AB, Boutsioukis ACh, Vassiliadis LP, Stavrianos CK: The influence of the smear layer on dentinal tubule penetration depth by three different root canal sealers: an in vitro study. J Endod. 2004 Feb;30(2):100-2
- 25 Limkangwalmongkol S, Burtscher P, Abbott PV, Sandler AB, Bishop BM (1991). A comparative study of the apical leakage of four root canal sealers and laterally condensed gutta-percha. *J Endod* 17:495-499
- **26** Limkangwalmongkol S, Abbott PV, Sandler AB (1992). Apical Dye Penetration with Four Root Canal Sealers and Gutta-Percha Using Longitudinal Sectioning. *J Endod* 18:535-539.
- 27 Chailertvanitkul P, Saunders WP, Mackenzie D (1996). An assessment of microbial coronal leakage in teeth root filled with gutta-percha and three different sealers. *Int Endod J* 29:387-392.
- 28 Chailertvanitkul P, Saunders WP, MacKenzie D (1997). Coronal leakage in teeth root-filled with gutta-percha and two different sealers after long-term storage. *Endod Dent Traumatol* 13:82-87
- **29** Chailertvanitkul P, Saunders WP, MacKenzie D (1997). Coronal leakage of obturated root canals after long-term storage using a polymicrobial marker. *J Endod* 23:610-613
- **30** Khademi AA, Ravandoost Y, Tabibian A (2004). Sealing ability of five root canal sealers against coronal leakage of Enterococcus faecalis. *Endodontic Practice*:31-34
- **31** Timpawat S, Amornchat C, Trisuwan W (2001). Bacterial coronal leakage after obturation with three root canal sealers. *J Endod* 27:36-39
- 32 Kokkas AB, Boutsioukis ACh, Vassiliadis LP, Stavrianos CK: The influence of the smear layer on dentinal tubule penetration depth by three different root canal sealers: an in vitro study. J Endod. 2004 Feb;30(2):100-2
- **33** Miletic I, Anic I, Pezelj-Ribaric S, Jukic S: Leakage of five root canal sealers. Int Endod J. 1999 Sep;32(5):415-8.
- **34** Miletic I, Ribaric SP, Karlovic Z, Jukic S, Bosnjak A, Anic I: Apical leakage of five root canal sealers after one year of storage. J Endod. 2002 Jun;28(6):431-2
- **35** Di Lenarda R: Evaluation of the clinical performance of Apexit Plus comparing thermafil technique versus non stop wave technique. University of Trieste
- **36** Pascon EA: Evaluation of the clinical performance of Apexit Plus using warm guttapercha. University of Toronto
- **37** Lipski M: Studies comparing the efficacy of root canal filling with gutta-percha lateral condensation and Thermafil obturators. Ann Acad Med Stetin. 2000;46:317-30.
- **38** Briseno MB, Kremers L: Klinische und röntgenologische Untersuchung des auf Calciumhydroxid aufgebauten Apexit-Wurzelkanal-Zementes. *Dental Spiegel* März 1992
- 39 Kastakova A, Halackova Z: Apikal leakage of Thermafil and lateral compactation. Part III: Sealer Apexit. The importance of sealer application. Ces. Stomat. 101, No 6 (205-211). 2001 [abstract]
- 40 Halackova Z: Thermafil Effect of resin and hydroxide sealer on quality of root filing. Ces Stomat 99, No 1(830-36) 1999 [abstract]
- 41 RTECS Database
- 42 RCC: Acute Oral Toxicity Study with Disalicylat S55 in rats. Study report 076296, 1986.
- **43** RCC: Cytotoxicity assay in vitro: evaluation of materials for medical devices (XTT-Test) with Apexit II. 2004

- 44 Geurtsen W, Leinenbach F, Krage T, Leyhausen G: Cytotoxicity of four root canal sealers in permanent 3T3 cells and primary human periodontal ligament fibroblast cultures. Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol Oral Radiol Endod. 1998 May;85(5):592-7.
- **45** Miletic I, Anic I, Karlovic Z, Marsan T, Pezelj-Ribaric S, Osmak M: Cytotoxic effect of four root filling materials. Endod Dent Traumatol. 2000 Dec;16(6):287-90.
- **46** Beltes P, Koulaouzidou E, Kotoula V, Kortsaris AH. In vitro evaluation of the cytotoxicity of calcium hydroxide-based root canal sealers. Endod Dent Traumatol. 1995 Oct;11(5):245-9.
- 47 Vajrabhaya L, Sithisarn P, Wilairat P, Leelaphiwat S: Comparison between Sulphorhodamine-B dye staining and 51Cr-release method in cytotoxicity assay of endodontic sealers. J Endod. 1997 Jun;23(6):355-7.
- **48** Vajrabhaya L, Sithisarn P: Multilayer and monolayer cell cultures in a cytotoxicity assay of root canal sealers. Int Endod J. 1997 Mar;30(2):141-4.
- **49** Schwarze T, Fiedler I, Leyhausen G, Geurtsen W: The cellular compatibility of five endodontic sealers during the setting period. J Endod. 2002 Nov;28(11):784-6.
- **50** Schwarze T, Leyhausen G, Geurtsen W: Long-term cytocompatibility of various endodontic sealers using a new root canal model. J Endod. 2002 Nov;28(11):749-53.
- 51 RCC: Acute Oral Toxicity Study in Rats. 1988
- 52 Salmonella typhimorium reverse mutation assay (AMES) with Apexit II. Study report 811503, RCC-CCR, 2004
- **53** Schweikl H, Schmalz G: Evaluation of the mutagenic potential of root canal sealers using the Salmonella mircrosome assay. J Mater Sci: Mater Med 2:181-185
- **54** Heil J, Reifferscheid G, Waldmann P, Leyhausen G, Geurtsen W: Genotoxicity of dental materials Mutat Res. 1996 Jul 5;368(3-4):181-94.
- **55** Bratel J, Jontell M, Dahlgren U, Bergenholtz G: Effects of root canal sealers on immunocompetent cells in vitro and in vivo. Int Endod J. 1998 May;31(3):178-88.
- 56 Leimgruber R: Pharmakologisches Sachverständigen-Gutachten über Apexit, RCC 1990
- 57 Kolokouris I, Economides N, Beltes P, Vlemmas I: In vivo comparison of the biocompatibility of two root canal sealers implanted into the subcutaneous connective tissue of rats. J Endod. 1998 Feb;24(2):82-5.
- **58** Silva LA, Leonardo MR, Faccioli LH, Figueiredo F: Inflammatory response to calcium hydroxide based root canal sealers. J Endod. 1997 Feb;23(2):86-90.
- **59** Leonardo MR, Silva LA, Utrilla LS, Assed S, Ether SS: Calcium hydroxide root canal sealers-histopathologic evaluation of apical and periapical repair after endodontic treatment. J Endod. 1997 Jul;23(7):428-32.
- **60** Bernath M, Szabo J: Tissue reaction initiated by different sealers. Int Endod J. 2003 Apr;36(4):256-61.

This documentation contains a survey of internal and external scientific data ("Information"). The documentation and Information have been prepared exclusively for use in-house by Ivoclar Vivadent and for external Ivoclar Vivadent partners. They are not intended to be used for any other purpose. While we believe the Information is current, we have not reviewed all of the Information, and we cannot and do not guarantee its accuracy, truthfulness, or reliability. We will not be liable for use of or reliance on any of the Information, even if we have been advised to the contrary. In particular, use of the Information is at your sole risk. It is provided "as-is", "as available" and without any warranty express or implied, including (without limitation) of merchantability or fitness for a particular purpose.

The Information has been provided without cost to you and in no event will we or anyone associated with us be liable to you or any other person for any incidental, direct, indirect, consequential, special, or punitive damage (including, but not limited to, damage for lost data, loss of use, or any cost to procure substitute information) arising out of your or another's use of or inability to use the Information even if we or our agents know of the possibility of such damage.

Ivoclar Vivadent AG Research & Development Scientific Service Bendererstrasse 2 FL - 9494 Schaan Liechtenstein

Contents:Dr. Sandro SbicegoIssued:December 2007Replaces Version of:August 2005